IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 86,136

JOHNNY L. ROBINSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF TEE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GAIL E. ANDERSON Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0841544

JOHN M. JACKSON Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0993476

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE Post Office Drawer 5498 Tallahassee, FL 32314-5498 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Robinson was indicted for first degree murder and other offenses (R1. 2, 10-11), and pled not guilty. Trial was held in May, 1986. The jury found him guilty (R1. 75-78, 702), and recommended death by a nine to three vote (R1. 81, 841). The court imposed death (R1. 144-48, 893-99). Robinson's conviction was affirmed but his sentences were vacated. Robinson v. State, 520 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 1988).

At resentencing the jury recommended death by an eight to four vote (R2. 69, 713). The court imposed death (R2. 109-14, 732-38). The sentences were affirmed. Robinson v. State, 574 so. 2d 108 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, Robinson v. Florida, 112 S. ct. 131 (1991).

In May, 1993, Robinson filed his motion under Rule 3.850. The court heard argument (PC-R. 6036, et seq.), summarily denied some claims and ordered an evidentiary hearing on others (PC-R. 1222-28). Although Robinson's counsel requested funding for 52 out-of-town witnesses to testify at the evidentiary hearing (PC-R. 781-86, 1232-33; T. 566-67) and the State refused to stipulate to affidavit testimony (PC-R. 782, 6038-39), the court denied the request and limited Robinson to 8 witnesses (PC-R. 1227, 1235; T. 568-69). Defense counsel objected that the court's rulings hampered Robinson's ability to present his case (T. 567-69, 571, 302-04, 557-59).

Robinson attempted to present the testimony of codefendant Clinton Fields, who had signed an affidavit stating that his

trial testimony against Robinson was not truthful (App. 1). Fields refused to testify (T. 243), the lower court refused to admit his affidavit in evidence (PC-R. 5764), over objection (T. 244-45, 252-53). Trial counsel Pearl testified that Fields' trial testimony was essential to the State's case (T. 174-75), and that Fields' affidavit supported an intoxication defense, negated any specific intent and kidnapping, and provided evidence showing Fields' testimony was rehearsed (T. 176-78, 179, 159-60, 167-68). Fields' affidavit was corroborated by the testimony of his attorney, Cushman (T. 77, 90-92, 98, 116, 117), by the prior deposition of police officer Porter (Def. Ex. 3), and by prosecutor Alexander's prior testimony (Def. Ex. 1). also testified that Fields had a specific deal with the state regarding his testimony (T. 82, 100, 103). Pearl testified the state did not provide him Fields' oral statement to Porter (T. 143-45, 152-53, 204-06), which was inconsistent with Fields' trial testimony and which Pearl would have used to support the defense (T. 147-49).

Pearl testified he conducted no penalty phase investigation but relied on psychologist Krop to do that (T. 181-83, 228-29, 622, 624). One month before resentencing, Pearl wrote to Robinson asking for names of potential witnesses, and Robinson immediately provided names (T. 184; Def. Ex. 10). Pearl did not contact the witnesses but forwarded Robinson's reply to Krop (T. 185, 270). Krop did not know he was to do the investigation and did not do it (T. 262-64, 265), except for the night before

resentencing when he tried to contact the witnesses Robinson had named (T. 272-73, 378). Attorney expert Doherty testified that Pearl's preparation for resentencing was below the standard of reasonably effective counsel (T. 482, 492, 496, 499-504, 541). Robinson provided information about his background to Pearl (Def. Exs. 10, 11, 12), to Krop (St. Ex. 3; T. 450), to the PSI preparer (PC-R. 3933, 3939, 3940), and to co-counsel Quarles during the resentencing (Def. Ex. 16).

Ethyl and Warner Byrd testified regarding Robinson's early childhood (T. 24-50, 59-68), and the court found them "highly credible witnesses" (T. 568). Other witnesses could have testified had the court granted expenses (Apps. 9, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, 18, 20, 21; PC-R. 719-78). Krop testified that he had reviewed background information since testifying at resentencing (T. 278-80). As a result, Krop changed his diagnoses (T. 281-91, 340, 345) and stated that his resentencing testimony was inaccurate and not a fair summary of Robinson's life (T. 294-302, 426).

After the evidentiary hearing (T.1, et seq.), the court denied relief (PC-R. 5763-86). Timely notice of appeal was filed (PC-R. 5888), and this appeal followed. On January 6, 1997, a 246-page initial brief and a motion for extension of page limitation were filed. The Court ordered a 100-page brief filed. A 190-page initial brief and a motion to reconsider the page limitation were filed on January 24, 1997. The Court ordered a 100-page brief filed. In compliance with the Court's order,

Robinson now files the instant brief but does not waive any claims or arguments by doing so.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. Robinson is innocent of first degree murder and a death sentence. The key trial witness, codefendant Fields, has recanted his trial testimony which provided the only evidence of first degree murder and several aggravators. Fields now states his trial testimony resulted from police pressure and was false: contrary to his trial testimony, Fields never saw Robinson hold a gun on the victim when she got in Robinson's car, Robinson never announced he was going to kill the victim because she could identify him, and the shooting happened during an argument between Robinson and the victim. This is corroborated by what Fields told his attorney and by Fields' original oral statements. This new evidence would probably result in Robinson's acquittal and/or imposition of a life sentence.
- 2. Although Fields met several times with the State regarding his testimony, he testified he had only one brief meeting. Although Fields and the State had a specific deal regarding Fields' testimony, Fields testified there was no specific quid pro quo. The State allowed Fields to testify falsely without correction, Further, the State did not reveal to defense counsel Fields' oral police statement which was consistent with Robinson's statement. Trial counsel testified that all of this was material to impeaching Fields and presenting the defense.

- 3. Robinson was denied a full and fair evidentiary hearing. The court denied funding for most of the witnesses Robinson wished to present and chose which witnesses could be presented. The State refused to stipulate to the witnesses' affidavits. The inability to present these witnesses rendered Robinson unable to prove Claims 3, 4 and 5 of his 3.850. The witnesses' testimony was essential to establishing trial counsel's failure to investigate mitigation and the prejudice to Robinson. A new evidentiary hearing is required.
- 4. Claims 3, 4 and 5 of the 3.850 all concerned trial counsel's failure to investigate mitigation. Counsel testified he conducted no investigation into Robinson's life, and spoke to no penalty phase witnesses other than the mental health expert, Dr. Krop. Counsel assumed Krop would do the investigation, while Krop testified that he relies on counsel to investigate. As a result, compelling mitigation was not presented, counsel presented inaccurate evidence and arguments, and Krop had insufficient information. Upon reviewing background information, Krop changed his diagnoses.
- 5. The lower court erred in summarily denying numerous ineffective assistance of counsel claims as procedurally barred and failed to attach to its order any files and records conclusively rebutting these claims.
- 6. Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to raise proper objections and to force an inquiry into Fields' refusal to testify at resentencing. Counsel failed to object under Rule

- 3.640(b), Fla. R. Crim. P., and Section 90.804, Fla. Stat., that Fields' prior testimony should not be read at resentencing because the State had not established Fields was unavailable and had brought about Fields' refusal to testify by breaching its agreement with Fields. Fields' testimony was the sole support for several aggravators.
- 7. Trial counsel provided prejudicial ineffective assistance in cross-examining Fields, failing to ask Fields about his oral police statement which contradicted his trial testimony, about the specifics of his deal with the State, and about his and Robinson's intoxication on the night of the offense.
- 8. Robinson's jury weighed unconstitutionally vague aggravators, and this claim was preserved.
 - 9. Public records were not timely provided.
- 10. Race discrimination permeates the justice system in St. Johns County and affected prosecution of this case.
- 11. Trial counsel ineffectively failed to: object to improper state arguments at trial and resentencing, object to the State's injection of racial prejudice at trial, conduct jury selection properly, and disclose a conflict of interest.

ARGUMENT

I. THE INNOCENCE CLAIM.

Robinson is innocent of first degree murder and a death sentence. At trial, Robinson contended that the victim accompanied and had sex with him voluntarily, that her shooting was an accident, and that he was guilty at most of some lesser

offense, not first degree murder (R1. 593-94, 601). Prosecutor Alexander agrees that Robinson's statement supported manslaughter or second degree murder at best. Alexander has testified that Robinson's statement was a "confession to, perhaps at best, a manslaughter. . . . He admitted to holding the gun and shooting her but it was all accidental, and I did not have a whole lot of proof otherwise" (Def. Ex. 1 at 158). Fields was Alexander's "star witness," and he "needed to have Fields' testimony for a first degree murder conviction" (Id. at 157, 158).

The only contrary evidence was Fields' testimony.' The State granted him immunity and agreed to help him out in other ways, the exact terms of which he did not disclose (R1. 514-15, 521). Fields' testimony provided the only evidence of felonies, premeditation, and the aggravators of committed during a felony, avoid arrest, and cold, calculated. Fields testified that Robinson held a gun on the victim when he brought her to his car, and put handcuffs on the victim and took her purse (R1. 498, 499), that the victim did not consent to sex, that Robinson told him he had to shoot the victim because she could identify him (R1. 502, 504-05), and that the alcohol Robinson had been drinking had little effect on him (R1. 497). Trial counsel Pearl testified that Fields' trial testimony was "[d]evastating. A

^{&#}x27;Five state witnesses testified at trial. Detective West introduced a crimescene video, the victim's sister-in-law identified her, the medical examiner testified as to cause of death, and Detective Lightsey testified to the defendant's arrest. None of this evidence touched on the veracity of Robinson's statement.

guarantee of the death penalty" (T. 174-75). Fields' trial testimony was reread at resentencing (R2. 289-320), and was the only direct evidence to support significant aggravators and to rebut the defense argument that Robinson did not commit an intentional murder (R2. 643).

Fields has now acknowledged that his testimony was untrue and was only given in response to pressure and prompting by the police. Fields has attested in a sworn affidavit the truth about what he saw and heard. An afternoon and evening of heavy drinking preceded the incident:

Johnny and I spent a lot of time riding around in Johnny's car drinking. Johnny was a very heavy drinker but he mostly hid it from other people.

* * * *

On my mother's birthday, August 11, 1985, Johnny and I were riding around and drinking all afternoon and night. We were drinking Hennesey and chasing it with beer. In the evening . , . we went to a birthday party . . . We drank a whole bunch more there, liquor and beer. We stayed there for a couple of hours and then we left in Johnny's car, still drinking. By this time, we had drank way too much, at least a fifth of Hennesey's, a pint of gin, and about three (3) six-packs between the two of us. We was both very high --way over the limit.

(App. 1).

Robinson stopped behind a disabled car and came back with a woman, but he was not holding a gun on her.

Out on 1-95, we passed a car that was stopped on the side of the road. Johnny pulled over like he always did to see if they needed help. I waited in the car and Johnny went over to the other car. He came back to the car a few minutes later with a heavy set white lady. I testified that Johnny was holding a gun on her, which is not true. The police told me to put that in my statement, and I just went along with it.

Id. What followed was a tragic accident, rather than a planned killing:

Johnny never made a statement to me about how he was going to shoot the lady or "kill the bitch" or anything like that. The police put that in my statement and I went along with it, Johnny never said anything like that.

What really happened was after we had sex with the lady, I went and got back in the car. Johnny and the lady were having some words back and forth. It seemed like it might have been about where we were going to go next. They had a little tussle and somehow the gun went off. I truly believe it was an accident but I can't say for sure because I could not see from where I was. I do not believe Johnny meant to shoot the lady.

Id.

After Fields' arrest, his statements and testimony were distorted by pressure, promises and coaching from the police and State:

Some of the things that I said at [Johnny's] trial were not true. I was under a lot of pressure and I was only sixteen (16) years old when I was arrested and the police took my statement. I said what the police wanted me to say rather than what really happened. They were yelling at me and were real hard on me. I was very scared. They even told me that if I would just tell them what happened, they would let me go home. Being so young, I believed them.

* * * *

I spent a lot of time in the State Attorney's office before I testified. They brought me up there from the jail many times to talk to me and get me ready.

This statement is made of my own free will with no pressure or promise of any kind. I want to set the record straight because I fell bad about lying on Johnny. I was only sixteen (16) and I was under heavy pressure when the police questioned me. I do not believe Johnny meant to kill that lady. I believe it was a terrible accident. We were very drunk and couldn't believe what had happened.

Id.

Thomas Cushman represented Fields at his murder trial and when Fields testified at Robinson's trial (T. 77). Cushman testified that Fields' description of the offense to him was consistent with Fields' affidavit. Cushman testified that the police told Fields he was in a lot of trouble and things would go easier on him if he told them about the offense (T. 90). Regarding the offense Fields said that the situation at the cemetery was not a "hostage situation" but a "party," that Robinson and the victim had an argument during which Robinson pushed her and the gun went off, and never told Cushman that Robinson announced he was going to kill the victim (T. 90-92). When Cushman asked Fields about the statement he gave police about Robinson shooting the victim to eliminate her as a witness, Fields "said no, the statement I gave the police was not correct" (T. 98). Fields told Cushman that Robinson said he shot the victim the second time because "he felt that no one would ever believe a nigger shot a white woman by accident" (T. 116). Fields told Cushman that the police reports' description of the shooting was untrue; the truth was "that Johnny pushed Mrs. St. George with the gun in his hand, it went off by accident" (T. $117).^{2}$

²Cushman gave similar testimony in an evidentiary hearing on Fields' federal habeas petition: Fields never told him that Robinson said anything about killing the victim beforehand, and Fields consistently told him that the sex was voluntary (Def. Ex. 1 at 120, 129-30, 141).

The evidence contained in Fields' affidavit was not available to Robinson or counsel at trial. As trial counsel testified and the lower court recognized, the only version available from Fields was that to which he testified (T. 173-74). At resentencing, Fields declined to testify (R2. 277-78, 282). Should this Court find, however, that counsel could have obtained this testimony by the use of due diligence, then counsel was ineffective. See Argument VII.

Had this evidence been presented at trial, it would probably have prevented a first-degree murder conviction and a death sentence. Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1991). Without Fields' testimony that Robinson put the victim in his car at gunpoint, raped her and announced he was going to kill her, the State would have lacked evidence of first-degree murder and numerous aggravators. Further, as trial counsel testified, Fields' statement in his affidavit that he and Robinson were drinking heavily and were both intoxicated would have provided the basis for an intoxication defense which trial counsel "certainly" would have used at both guilt and penalty to show Robinson's "faculties were impaired," the accuracy of Fields' account was clouded by his own intoxication, lack of intent for the underlying felonies, and lack of intent required to support aggravators (T. 176-78). Counsel also would have used Fields'

³Fields' new evidence would have required an instruction on voluntary intoxication. <u>Linehan v. State</u>, 476 So. 2d 1262 (Fla. 1985); <u>Gardner v. State</u>, 480 So. 2d 91, 92-93 (Fla. 1985). At trial, such an instruction was denied for lack of evidence (R1. 562-63). However, Fields now says that at the time of the

statement in his affidavit that Robinson did not hold a gun on the victim as the two got in Robinson's car to show there was no kidnapping but that the victim willingly accompanied Robinson (T. 179).

At the end of that period, I should have thought I would have had a fairly good chance of success at the guilt/innocence phase.

(T. 179).

Fields' affidavit also corroborates Robinson's report concerning his drinking the night of the offense to Dr. Krop.

Krop testified that one mitigator was that Robinson was intoxicated at the time of the offense (R1. 770-71; R2. 514-16, 518, 527). At trial and resentencing, the court (and presumably the jury) rejected this mitigator because it was based solely on self report (R1. 146; R2. 112). A jury life recommendation based on such facts would have required a life sentence. Savage v. state, 588 So. 2d 975 (Fla. 1991); Wright v. State, 586 So. 2d 1024 (Fla. 1991).

Fields refused to testify at the evidentiary hearing (T. 243), but the lower court erroneously refused to admit his affidavit in evidence (PC-R. 5764). Defense counsel objected that the court's refusal to admit the affidavit violated Robinson's rights to due process and to present witnesses (T. 252-53). Defense counsel also argued under State v. Montgomery.

offense, both he and Robinson were drinking heavily, Robinson was taking pain medication, and both of them were "very high--way over the limit" (App. 1). With this information a mental health expert could also have testified concerning the effect of this degree of intoxication on specific intent (App. 5).

467 So. 2d 387 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), and State v. Nessim, 587 So. 2d 1344 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), that the State should be required to grant Fields use immunity because prosecutorial misconduct had distorted the factfinding process (T. 244). Counsel explained that the prosecutorial misconduct included police intimidating and coercing Fields into providing his statements incriminating Robinson, the State breaching the plea agreement with Fields and Fields' former counsel, Tom Cushman, instructing Fields not to testify at Robinson's resentencing after Cushman had become an Assistant State Attorney in the office prosecuting Robinson (T. 244-45).

The court denied this claim (PC-R. 5764-65). The court's refusal to admit Fields' affidavit or to require the State to grant Fields use immunity deprived Robinson of a full and fair hearing and resulted in unsupported and unreliable findings. Without having Fields' testimony or admitting his affidavit, the lower court nevertheless viewed Fields' affidavit "with great suspicion." Without admitting any evidence on the subject, the court determined that co-defendant Fields had no reason to lie originally, but now is "mad" at the State and has a reason to lie. However, there is no evidence in the record that Fields is "mad" at the State. The court thus made findings based on nothing.

Further, the court's reasoning is misplaced. Fields did not originally testify out of the goodness of his heart. The State

granted immunity and agreed to help him out in other ways.⁴
Fields had already been convicted, but not sentenced. Fields had great motivation to lie at trial.

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