IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 86,136

JOHNNY L. ROBINSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 16 1997

CLERK, SUPCEME COURY
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR ST. JOHN'S COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JUDY TAYLOR RUSH
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO: 0438847
444 SEABREEZE BOULEVARD
FIFTH FLOOR
DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32118
(904) 238-4990

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

pleadings do not state a basis for relief in this Court. See Roberts, 568 So. 2d at 1260; Duest, 555 So. 2d at 852.

B. Instructions Regarding Weighing Testimony:

Robinson claims that "[s]ubparts 6 and 9 of Instruction 2.04, Standard Jury Instruction in Criminal Cases, would have been helpful in weighing Fields' testimony." (IB 83-84). He utterly fails to explain how he reached this conclusion. Such vague, conclusory claims do not warrant an evidentiary hearing; indeed, they are insufficient on their face. See Roberts, 568 So. 2d at 1260; Duest, 555 So. 2d at 852.

Further, this claim is procedurally barred because it could, and should, have been raised on appeal, and not in a Rule 3.850 motion. Gorham v. State, 521 So. 2d 1067, 1070 (Fla. 1988). This procedural bar cannot be avoided by phrasing the issue in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel. Kight v. Dugger, 574 So.2d 1066 (Fla. 1990).

Finally, even if the issue were properly raised in a postconviction motion, was not otherwise procedurally barred, and
adequately alleged ineffective assistance of counsel, Robinson
would be entitled to no relief. He has not alleged, much less
shown, that Attorney Pearl's failure to request this instruction which he claims would have been "helpful" - fell outside the wide

range of adequate professional legal assistance. Neither has he alleged, or shown, that he was prejudiced from the failure to request the allegedly "helpful" instruction. Thus, this claim is legally insufficient on its face. Strickland.

C. Robinson's Intoxication:

At the evidentiary hearing, Attorney Pearl testified that "[t]here was never a basis" for an intoxication instruction." (T 620). Further, defense counsel made a strategic decision not to pursue any evidence because "his actions during the time would have, I think, compromised any claim that might have been made." (T 620). Attorney Pearl explained:

. . . I had very little evidence of intoxication . . . it was only self reported. . . And the evidence was that Mr. Robinson drove an automobile over a long distance, fired a pistol with some accuracy. And so, . . . you certainly couldn't claim that his faculties were impaired under those circumstances.

(T 621-622).

Further, although Robinson said that "he had been drinking," and gave the impression that he claimed to have been "drunk," he

As the trial judge pointed out, Attorney Pearl did request an instruction on intoxication as a defense, but [t]here was absolutely no evidence to support it, and the Supreme Court of Florida so found." (T 621).

also confirmed to his attorney "that the facts set forth in the statement that he made to the police were true." (T 213, 214). The actions related by Robinson in his statement, the details therein, including many direct quotes, and the explanation of his thoughts and actions which led to the second shot, make it clear that this killer was not intoxicated at the relevant times. Under such circumstances, counsel is not ineffective for making a strategic decision not to vigorously pursue and/or present intoxication evidence. See White v. State, 559 So. 2d 1097 (Fla. 1990). In Clisby v. Alabama, 26 F.3d 1054, 1056 (11th Cir. 1994), the court noted:

[C]ounsel knew that Clisby had used drugs and alcohol; but, as a tactical matter, counsel specifically avoided relying on this evidence before the jury. Precedents show that many lawyers justifiably fear introducing evidence of alcohol and drug use.

The court added:

. . . [W]e think that most judges view drug and alcohol abuse as highly predictive of a propensity for criminal activity. . . . [W]e doubt that many sentencers view substance abuse as a strong mitigating factor. Cf., Rogers, 13 F.3d at 388 (noting reasonableness of lawyers' fear that defendant's voluntary drug and alcohol use could be 'perceived by the jury as aggravating instead of mitigating'") (emphasis in original).

Id. at 1056-1057, n.2.

Moreover, even if his performance was deficient, Robinson has shown no prejudice resulting therefrom. He could have been found guilty under a felony murder theory even if he had established that he was too intoxicated to form the specific intent required for premeditated murder. Voluntary intoxication is not a defense to felony murder where the underlying felony is not a specific intent crime, such as sexual battery. Buford v. State, 492 So. 2d 355 (Fla. 1986). Thus, Robinson has failed to meet either prong of the Strickland test. This claim was properly denied.

D. Leading Ouestions

The instant claim has no factual allegations; Robinson fails to identify a single question which he regards as unduly leading,

much less explain how it prejudiced him. Such conclusory claims do not warrant an evidentiary hearing. Roberts v. State, 568 So. 2d 1255 (Fla. 1990); Duest, at 555 So. 2d at 852. See Kight, supra; Kennedy, supra. See also Swafford v. Dugger, 569 So. 2d 1254 (Fla. 1990). The claim that Attorney Pearl was ineffective because he did not object to the State's leading questions on examination of Fields is legally insufficient. See Mendyk v. State, 592 So. 2d 1076, 1080 (Fla. 1992).

POINT VIII

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE CLAIM THAT THE JURY WEIGHED INVALID AND VAGUE AGGRAVATORS.

Robinson complains that the jury improperly weighed the especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel [hereinafter "HAC"] and the cold, calculated, and premeditated [hereinafter "CCP"] aggravators. He also claims that the jury improperly doubled the weight it assigned to the same evidence as a result of receiving instruction on both CCP and the avoid arrest aggravator. (IB at 85, 86).

The HAC issue was raised on direct appeal from the 1989 resentencing proceeding. *Robinson v. State*, 574 So. 2d 108 (Fla. 1991). This Court stuck the HAC aggravator based on a lack of evidence to support it. *Id.* at 112. Claims which were raised on

direct appeal are not cognizable in a postconviction motion. 67

Francis v. State, 529 So. 2d 670, 672 n.2 (Fla. 1988). See Clark

v. State, 460 So. 2d 886, 888 (Fla. 1984).

The CCP vagueness claim is also barred. The failure to raise the issue on direct appeal constitutes a procedural bar. Lambrix v. Singletary, 641 So. 2d 847 (Fla. 1994). See Lambrix v. Singletary, 10 F.L.W. Fed. S446 (May 12, 1997).

Finally, Robinson complains that "[t]he exact same evidence was used to support CCP and 'avoid arrest,'" and "[t]wo aggravators based on the same facts cannot be separately weighed." (IB at 90). He concedes that "[o]n direct appeal, the Court rejected this issue." (IB at 91). He is correct, see Robinson, 574 So. 2d at 113, and therefore, this issue, too, is procedurally barred. It is also without merit, as this Court pointed out in Robinson and the trial judge ruled below. 574 So. 2d at 113; R 1226. See Derrick v. State, 641 So. 2d 378 (Fla. 1994).

The vagueness of the HAC instruction was raised on direct appeal, although the issue was not addressed in this Court's opinion. Even if the issue was not procedurally barred for having been raised on direct appeal, Robinson would be entitled to no relief because he can show no prejudice since the HAC aggravator was stricken.

POINT IX

ROBINSON'S CLAIM THAT HE IS ENTITLED TO AMEND HIS RULE 3.850 MOTION AFTER ADDITIONAL PUBLIC RECORDS ARE PROVIDED BY THE STATE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

Robinson complains that the trial court erred in denying his claim that he should be permitted to amend his Rule 3.850 "motion once he received all of the records." (IB at 94). In his motion, he complained that he had not received the pretrial motions and depositions he wanted from the clerk's office and had not been provided "the files of the individual police officers involved in the investigation of this case." (R 373). He said that he had received the crime scene videotape and needed "the opportunity to review" it, so he could decide whether it was "relevant to any of the claims pled herein or . . . to additional claims." (R 373). He asked for "an order . . . compelling disclosure of all requested materials . . . and allowing him 60 days in which to amend this motion after compliance is complete." (R 374).

At the *Huff* hearing held on the motion on June 22, 1994, the following occurred:

⁶⁸

His justification for wanting these personal records was "that there may be items . . . needed in order for counsel to identify and locate potential witnesses." (R 373).

[Defense Counsel]: Your Honor, . . . we might abandon that claim before the hearing. I'm not completely familiar right now with whether these things have been provided to our investigator or not. I think some of them have, some haven't.

THE COURT: How much time would you need to make a determination on that? . . .

[Defense Counsel]: Two weeks.

THE COURT: When is the hearing?

[Defense Counsel]: It's set in August, August 29th.

THE COURT: So, we have some time. I'll give you two weeks. How about writing a letter, tell us . . . what your position is on that.

[Defense Counsel]: Yes, sir.

(R 6104-6105).

Defense Counsel never wrote the letter and never again raised the matter in the trial court. The court did not issue its order finding the matter procedurally barred until more than three weeks after the Huff hearing, i.e., on July 14, 1994. (R 1228). Defense counsel failed to file anything with the court indicating that he still needed documents from the state. Neither did he thereafter ask the lower court to let him amend his 3.850 motion. Thus, this issue is procedurally barred.

Assuming arguendo that the claim may properly be considered by

this Court, Robinson has failed to show any entitlement to relief. His reliance on Ventura v. State, 673 So. 2d 479 (Fla. 1996) is misplaced. After raising the issue in his 3.850 motion, Ventura "moved for an order compelling compliance" with his public records requests. When "a number of the requested materials were finally produced," he alleged that the new materials reflected that the victim was actually killed by someone else. 673 So. 2d at 480-481. He amended his motion for rehearing on the 3.850 "to include factual allegations made possible by the intervening public records disclosure." Id. at 480. As a result, this Court concluded that he should have had the opportunity to file an amended 3.850 motion raising the new information issues. Id. at 482.

The facts of the instant case are far different than those in Ventura. Robinson did not move for an order compelling that records be provided; in fact, he indicated that he did not know if there were any outstanding records requests. Further, he acknowledged that he had received some of the records which he had indicated were outstanding in his 3.850 motion. Regarding the others, he made no claim that any of them were relevant to his 3.850 issues or that they would support any new or additional 3.850 claims. Indeed in this Court, he fails to identify what, if any, public records he has properly requested, but not received.

Neither has he alleged, much less established, any need for, relevance of, or entitlement to, any of the vaguely referenced public records. Finally, his claim that he should have been permitted to amend his 400-page motion is absurd in light of his trial attorney's failure to make such a request of the lower court. Robinson's instant claim is utterly without merit.

POINT X

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE RACIAL DISCRIMINATION CLAIM AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

In the lower court, at the *Huff* hearing on the Rule 3.850 motion, the racial discrimination issue was presented by Robinson as:

[I]t is our allegation the decision to seek the death penalty and the ability to obtain it is a product of racial prejudice and discrimination in St. Johns County, limiting the claim to St. Johns County and the Seventh Circuit as opposed to statewide or nationwide.

(R 6059-6060). The defense contended that "the race of the victim is the determining factor in who gets the death sentence in St. Johns County " (R 6060). Defense Counsel admitted that there were "only three" death penalties handed down in St. Johns County during the relevant time period." (R 6061). He agreed that "of the three death sentences in St. Johns County, two of the

people sentenced to death were white" and only one, Robinson, was black. (R 6061). All three victims were white. (R 6062). Defense Counsel agreed that the issue was not whether the court imposes the death sentence in a racially discriminatory manner, but only whether the State decision to seek it is based on racial discrimination. (R 6062).

On appeal, Robinson urges that the issue is whether "[t]he prosecutor in this case repeatedly and deliberately injected the issue of Robinson's race into the trial." (IB at 99). He claims: "The deliberate injection of race encouraged the jury to convict Robinson and sentence him to death on the basis of racial discrimination, rather than on the basis of the evidence." The State contends that the issue raised in this Honorable Court is procedurally barred because it was not raised in the lower tribunal. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). See Doyle v. State, 526 So. 2d 905, 911 (Fla. 1988). Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 852. Further, it is barred because there is no allegation that an objection was made on this basis at trial or resentencing. See Steinhorst v. State, supra. Finally, even if the issue raised here was raised below, it is barred because the claim was raised on direct appeal. Robinson v. State, 520 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1988). 69 If the identical issue was not raised in the direct appeal, it could, and should, have been. Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1072, 1074 n.1 (Fla. 1995); Brown v. State, 596 So. 2d 1026, 1027, 1028 (Fla. 1992), and so, it is procedurally barred.

Assuming arguendo that the issue is properly before this Honorable Court, it is without merit. To prevail on a "claim of prosecutorial discrimination in the pursuit of the death penalty," the defendant must produce "exceptionally clear proof of prosecutorial discrimination necessary to find an abuse of prosecutorial discretion." Jordan v. State, 22 F.L.W. S199, S200 (Fla. April 25, 1997). In Jordan, this Court again rejected the position Robinson takes herein, i.e., that the state constitution provides greater protections than the federal one in this regard.

22 F.L.W. at S200. In Foster v. State, 614 So. 2d 455, 463-464 (Fla. 1992), this Court soundly rejected the claim that statistics of the nature offered by Robinson herein, even where confined to a particular State Attorney's Office, were sufficient to meet the

The deliberate injection of racial prejudice issue was raised on direct appeal from Robinson's original sentencing proceeding. Robinson v. State, 520 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1988). The case was remanded for resentencing, and this Court rejected Robinson's attempt to argue racial discrimination on appeal from the resentencing proceeding. Robinson v. State, 574 So. 2d 108 (Fla. 1991).

"exceptionally clear discriminatory purpose in the specific case" standard established in McCleskey v. Kemp, 481 U.S. 279, 107 S.Ct. 1756, 95 L.Ed.2d 262 (1987). Id. Neither do Robinson's statistics account for nonracial variables, nor rebut or challenge the legitimate reason for the decision to seek the death penalty in this specific case, i.e., Robinson committed an act for which the United States Constitution and Florida laws permit imposition of the death penalty. See McCleskey, 107 S.Ct. at 1769-70. Thus, alternative to the procedural bar holding on this issue, this Court should hold this claim to be without merit.

POINT XI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING ROBINSON'S OTHER ASSORTED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL CLAIMS.

Robinson complains that his trial counsel was ineffective because he did not object to "improper prosecutorial arguments at trial . . . and resentencing, [and] . . . the prosecutor's injection of racial prejudice at trial " (IB at 100). He adds that Attorney Pearl was ineffective "for failing to properly conduct voir dire . . . and due to a conflict of interest " (IB at 100). He then offers that "[t]he lower court erroneously denied most of these claims as procedurally barred." (IB at 100).

To show ineffective assistance of trial counsel, the defendant

must demonstrate that his attorney's performance fell outside the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. Kennedy v. State, 546 So. 2d 912 (Fla. 1989). Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered effective assistance, and the defendant carries the burden to prove otherwise. Id. If he proves deficient performance, he must also prove that the deficiency so prejudiced him that the result is unreliable. Gorham v. State, 521 So. 2d 1067, 1069 (Fla. 1988) [citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687].

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